Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

# Nitric Oxide 23 (2010) 153-165

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Nitric Oxide

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yniox

# Review Nitric oxide and neuronal death

# Guy C. Brown

Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Tennis Court Road, Cambridge CB2 1QW, United Kingdom

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 September 2009 Revised 4 June 2010 Available online 12 June 2010

Keywords: Neurodegeneration Inflammation Ischemia Cell death Peroxynitrite

# ABSTRACT

NO and its derivatives can have multiple effects, which impact on neuronal death in different ways. High levels of NO induces energy depletion-induced necrosis, due to: (i) rapid inhibition of mitochondrial respiration, (ii) slow inhibition of glycolysis, (iii) induction of mitochondrial permeability transition, and/or (iv) activation of poly-ADP-ribose polymerase. Alternatively, if energy levels are maintained, NO can induce apoptosis, via oxidant activation of: p53, p38 MAPK pathway or endoplasmic reticulum stress. Low levels of NO can block cell death via cGMP-mediated: vasodilation, Akt activation or block of mitochondrial permeability transition. High NO may protect by killing pathogens, activating NF-κB or S-nitro(sy)lation of caspases and the NMDA receptor. GAPDH, Drp1, mitochondrial complex I, matrix metalloprotease-9, Parkin, XIAP and protein-disulphide isomerase can also be S-nitro(sy)lated, but the contribution of these reactions to neurodegeneration remains unclear. Neurons are sensitive to NOinduced excitotoxicity because NO rapidly induces both depolarization and glutamate release, which together activate the NMDA receptor. nNOS activation (as a result of NMDA receptor activation) may contribute to excitotoxicity, probably via peroxynitrite activation of poly-ADP-ribose polymerase and/or mitochondrial permeability transition. iNOS is induced in glia by inflammation, and may protect; however, if there is also hypoxia or the NADPH oxidase is active, it can induce neuronal death. Microglial phagocytosis may contribute actively to neuronal loss.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introduction	154
NO synthases	154
NO levels	154
NO chemistry.	154
NO and oxygen metabolism	155
NO and RONS-induced necrosis and apoptosis	155
NO-induced neurosis	155
Mitechondrial permeability transition (MPT)	155
Poly ADD riboce polymerzec (DADD)	
Chegraldevide 2, sheaphate debudragenage (CADDII)	
Giveriadenyde-3-phosphate denydrogenase (GAPDH)	
NO-induced apoptosis.	156
p53	156
ER stress	157
р38	157
NO inhibition of apoptosis	157
How can NO both induce apoptosis and inhibit apoptosis?	157
RONS-induced phagocytosis	158
NO. excitotoxicity and ischemia.	158
NO-induced excitotoxicity	158
NO-induced glutamate release	158
NO-induced excitatovicity mediated by compares and calmains	158
nNOS madiated excitatorizity	150





E-mail address: gcb@mole.bio.cam.ac.uk

<sup>1089-8603/\$ -</sup> see front matter  $\odot$  2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.niox.2010.06.001

	Mitochondrial fragmentation/fission induced by NO	. 160
	S-nitros(yl)ation of the NMDA receptor and PDI	. 160
I	NO in inflammatory neurodegeneration	160
	NO and hypoxia	. 161
	NADPH oxidase	. 161
	Mitochondrial electron transport	. 161
	Anti-inflammatory NO	. 161
	Peroxynitrite and ALS	. 161
5	S-nitros(yl)ation and neurodegenerative disease	161
(	Conclusions	162
	Things that are clear, unclear or needing clarification	. 162
1	Acknowledgments	162
I	References	162

# Introduction

NO induces neuronal death; NO inhibits neuronal death; and NO does nothing to neuronal death. How this comes about, and why it matters, are the foci of this review. NO has been implicated in neuronal death in: brain ischemia (e.g. stroke), brain trauma (e.g. bang on head), brain infections (e.g. meningitis and AIDS dementia), brain aging and neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Multiple Sclerosis and motor neuron diseases. Given that NO may contribute both positively and negatively to these diseases, sometimes at the same time, it is important to disentangle these effects if rational intervention is to be attempted.

#### NO synthases

In the healthy brain, NO is produced mainly by nNOS found in a small subset of neurons, and eNOS in endothelium. It has also been reported that nNOS can be found at low levels in astrocytes, and that eNOS can be found in a subset of neurons and astrocytes. Within neurons, nNOS is found mainly in the cytoplasm, but is also concentrated in the post-synaptic membrane via its PDZ domain, which results in it being closely associated with the NMDA-type of glutamate receptor [1]. Activation of the NMDA receptor by glutamate in the synapse causes an influx of calcium, which transiently activates nNOS (via calcium-calmodulin binding) to produce relatively low levels of NO [2]. In the diseased brain iNOS is induced mainly in microglia and astrocytes by pathogens, damage or hypoxia, and once expressed produces moderate levels of NO chronically, without any requirement for further activation [3,4]. Some researchers refer to 'mitochondrial NOS' (mtNOS), a NOS activity found in mitochondria, but this remains controversial, and may be nNOS bound to/within mitochondria [5]. NO can also be produced by reduction of nitrite by (i) bacteria in gut or skin, (ii) acidification in stomach or ischemia, or (iii) myoglobin in relative hypoxia [6].

# NO levels

The levels of NO that occur in vivo are still not entirely clear, but what evidence there is suggests that NO levels from nNOS and eNOS are normally 'low', in the range 0.2–2.0 nM, which is the range over which soluble guanylate cyclase is activated [2]. iNOS expression or gut bacteria may generate 'moderate' levels of NO, in the range 2–20 nM NO, and occasionally 'high' levels of NO, in the range 20–200 nM [7–9]. Anything above 200 nM NO we shall refer to here as 'pharmacological' levels of NO.

One difficulty with the literature on NO and neuronal death (which I am as guilty of as much as anyone else) is the use of pharmacological levels of NO to induce neuronal death. This has several problems: (i) it is difficult to know whether findings with such high levels of NO have any relevance to the situation in vivo with lower levels of NO, (ii) mitochondrial respiration will be strongly inhibited in such conditions which will have multiple cellular effects, and (iii) in the presence of oxygen, superoxide and/or thiols, such high levels of NO are mostly diverted to reactive nitrogen species (RNS, see below), and therefore any effects are likely to be due to RNS rather than NO, and will be very condition dependent. Having said that, it may be that mechanisms found with pharmacological levels of NO in vitro may give useful information relevant to lower levels in vivo. One way to test relevance of effects is to test whether they also occur when nNOS, eNOS or iNOS are expressed in cells in culture. However, it should be noted that NOS in cultured cells may well generate higher levels of NO than in vivo, because important NO degrading processes (such as haemoglobin and myoglobin) are missing.

A related problem in the literature is the use of NO donors. It used to be accepted practice in NO research to always test whether the effects of an NO donor are due to NO or the donor molecule (by for example testing whether an NO scavenger blocks the effect), but this important practice is becoming less common. Many NO donors (such as S-nitrosothiols) have biological effects independent of NO, which may or may not be biologically interesting in themselves. However, without testing whether the effect of an NO donor are due to NO or some other molecule, it is very difficult to come to useful conclusions. For example, we have sometimes used the NO donor DETA-NONOate on cells assuming any effects are due to NO. However, we recently found that high levels of DETA-NONOate could directly depolarise neurons, independent of NO [10]. Thus it is important to test whether the effect of an NO donor is blocked by an NO scavenger (such as haemoglobin or PTIO) and is replicated by authentic NO (at a reasonable concentration).

# NO chemistry

In order to trace the mechanisms by which NO affects cell death it is useful to distinguish between the direct and indirect effects of NO. The direct affects of NO include: (i) activation of soluble guanylate cyclase to produce cGMP, (ii) binding to haemoglobin, myoglobin and cytoglobin resulting in NO breakdown, (iii) inhibition of cytochrome oxidase and hence mitochondrial oxygen consumption, and (iv) inhibition of catalase and hence H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> breakdown. All of these rapid and direct actions result from NO binding to the haem of these proteins. But the first two of these actions occur at the low physiological levels of NO produced by eNOS or nNOS, while the latter two actions require high levels of NO [11]: possibly the levels of NO produced by iNOS. Other direct actions of NO are: (v) reaction with superoxide to produce peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>), and (vi) reaction with oxygen to produce NO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> [12]. The reaction with superoxide occurs at the diffusion limited rate, so can occur at any level of NO (physiological, pathophysiological, or pharmacological), but is usually limited by the low rate of superoxide production in cells [13]. Peroxynitrite can spontaneously isomerise to nitrate with a halftime of seconds, but is also

154

a strong oxidant, causing oxidation of thiols e.g. glutathione or protein thiols. It can also nitrate (add a NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> group to) protein tyrosine residues resulting in nitrotyrosine residues. However, if CO2 is present, most peroxynitrite will react with CO<sub>2</sub> to produce the two radicals  $NO_2$  and  $CO_3$ .<sup>-</sup>, which are both strong oxidants [13]. The reaction of NO with oxygen has a second order dependence on NO concentration, and so only tends to occur rapidly at high NO concentrations (and preferentially within membranes where NO and O<sub>2</sub> concentrations are higher) [14]. The reaction produces  $NO_2$ , which may react with another NO to produce  $N_2O_3$ .  $N_2O_3$ can nitrosate (i.e. add a NO<sup>+</sup> group to) thiols such as glutathione or protein cysteine residues to produce S-nitrosothiols. Although quantitatively most S-nitrothiols may result from NO reacting with the thiyl radical (RS<sup>·</sup>), which is generated by oxidation of reduced thiols (RSH) by NO<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>3</sub><sup>.-</sup> or other oxidants [12]. Because S-nitrosothiols may arise from addition to thiols of an NO group (nitrosylation) or addition of an NO<sup>+</sup> group (nitrosation) this reaction is sometimes referred to as S-nitro(sy)lation. Excessive S-nitro(sy)lation is often referred to as nitrosative stress. ONOO<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> are collectively known as 'reactive nitrogen species' (RNS)<sup>1</sup>. Excessive nitration (due to ONOO<sup>-</sup> or NO<sub>2</sub>) is sometimes referred to as nitrative stress. However, high levels of NO generally lead to a mixture of nitrosative, nitrative and oxidative stress, which has been referred to as nitroxidative stress [12].

The actions of NO are in general dependent on: (a) the concentration of NO, (b) the time course of exposure to NO, (c) the presence/absence of particular ROS at relevant levels, and (d) the presence/absence of particular pathways in particular cells. In general this tends to mean that NO is cytoprotective at low levels and toxic at high levels [15,16].

#### NO and oxygen metabolism

NO inhibits mitochondrial respiration by different means: (A) NO itself causes rapid, selective, potent, but reversible inhibition of cytochrome oxidase [17], and (B) RNS cause slow, non-selective, weak, but irreversible inhibition of many mitochondrial components, including complex I [18,19]. These and other effects result in NO have multiple interactions with oxygen and reactive oxygen species (ROS) metabolism [20]. NO inhibition of mitochondrial oxygen consumption, together with NO-induced vasodilation, may increase tissue oxygen levels. And oxygen is a limiting substrate for the production of NO (by nNOS and iNOS), of ROS (by the mitochondrial respiratory chain and NADPH oxidase) and of RNS (NO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> by reaction of NO and O<sub>2</sub>). At limiting arginine or tetrahydrobiopterin levels, NOS can also produce superoxide [21]. NO/RNS inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain stimulates the leakage of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production from mitochondria [22]. And this superoxide may react with NO to produce peroxynitrite, which further inhibits the respiratory chain, potentially causing a vicious circle [13]. Note however that there are also negative feedbacks on this system as superoxide and peroxynitrite potently inactivate aconitase [23] and other en-

zymes responsible for feeding electrons into the mitochondrial respiratory chain, hence limiting ROS production. NO stimulates H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production from the mitochondrial respiratory chain, and NO directly inhibits catalase [24], while peroxynitrite oxidizes glutathione and inactivates glutathione reductase [25]. Thus NO can raise H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels in cells. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and NO can react on superoxide dismutase to produce peroxynitrite [26]. Thus high NO levels in tissue can, in the presence of oxygen, give rise to a potent mixture of ROS and RNS, sometimes collectively referred to as RONS (reactive oxygen and nitrogen species). And perhaps the most significant result of this is oxidation of protein cysteine residues, although protein nitration and nitrosation, lipid oxidation and DNA mutation may be important in particular cases. However, NO can also act as an anti-oxidant (e.g. by reacting with superoxide  $(O_2^{\cdot-})$ , thiyl (RS<sup>•</sup>) and lipid peroxyl (ROO<sup>•</sup>) radicals), and has been reported to also protect cells from oxidant-induced death [16].

# NO and RONS-induced necrosis and apoptosis

In non-neuronal cells, high levels of NO induce cell death by two different means: (i) energy depletion mediated necrosis, or (ii) oxidative/nitrosative stress mediated apoptosis [27]. We will briefly discuss these mechanisms, and point out where they are relevant to neurons, although additional mechanisms are involved NO-induced death of neurons. Necrosis involves rupture of the plasma membrane, due to cell swelling, phospholipases or proteases, often as a consequence of energy depletion and/or calcium overload. Apoptosis involves chromatin condensation and fragmentation, phosphatidylserine exposure, and cellular disassembly and fragmentation without plasma membrane rupture. Apoptosis generally results from caspase activation, induced by either death receptor activation or cytochrome *c* release from mitochondria permeabilized by Bcl-2 homologous proteins.

#### NO-induced necrosis

NO can induce cellular energy depletion by multiple mechanisms: (i) NO inhibits mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase and thus ATP production, (ii) NO, S-nitrosothiols and peroxynitrite inhibit multiple other components of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, (iii) peroxynitrite and S-nitrosothiols activate the mitochondrial permeability transition, which results in hydrolysis of all cellular ATP, (iv) peroxynitrite and S-nitrosothiols inhibit GAPDH (glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) and hence glycolytic ATP production, and (v) RONS cause DNA strand breaks which activate PARP, which consumes cytosolic NAD<sup>+</sup>. All of these processes deplete the cell of ATP (Fig. 1), which in general causes necrosis via failure of the ATP-driven calcium pump and sodium pumps, which lead to flooding of the cell with calcium (activating proteases, phospholipases and, as discussed below, the mitochondrial permeability transition) and with sodium, resulting in osmotic rupture of the plasma membrane. ATP depletion also prevents apoptosis, because caspase activation requires ATP, so although apoptosis sometimes causes secondary necrosis, necrosis prevents apoptosis. Since high NO inactivates mitochondrial ATP production, whether neurons or astrocytes die by necrosis in these conditions depends on whether glycolytic ATP production can continue [28], and this in turn depends on whether cellular glutathione levels can be maintained [29,30]. But if glycolysis continues in the presence of high NO, then apoptosis is usually induced [31].

#### Mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT)

Mitochondria can undergo something called 'permeability transition', which is induced by high calcium and/or RONS, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Abbreviations used: AIF, apoptosis inducing factor; ALS, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; AMPA, alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid; Drp1, dynamin-related protein 1; GAPDH, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; cGMP, guanosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate; GSH, glutathione; GSNO, S-nitrosoglutathione; L-NAME, N<sup>G</sup>-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; LTA, lipoteichoic acid; MAP kinase, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MPT, mitochondrial permeability transition; MPTP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; NO, nitric oxide; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; eNOS, endothelial NOS; iNOS, inducible NOS; nNOS, neuronal NOS; PARP, poly-ADP-ribose polymerase; PDI, protein-disulphide isomerise; PHOX, phagocytic NADPH oxidase; PKG, protein kinase G; PMA, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; RONS, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SONC, S-nitrosocysteine; SOD, superoxide dismutase.



**Fig. 1.** Mechanisms by which NO/RNS cause energy-depletion-induced necrosis. NO and RNS (reactive nitrogen species) directly inhibit mitochondrial respiration. Activation of MPT (mitochondrial permeability transition) by RNS can inhibit respiration due to loss of mitochondrial cytochrome *c* and NADH, and can more directly cause ATP depletion by allowing protons and ATP free access across the inner membrane, resulting in reversal of the ATP synthase. RNS damage to DNA can cause PARP (poly ADP-ribose polymerase) activation, leading to depletion of its substrate NAD<sup>+</sup>, which may deplete ATP either because ATP is required to resynthesis NAD<sup>+</sup> or because NAD<sup>+</sup> is required for glycolysis. RNS directly inhibits (or uncouples) glycolysis at glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase when glutathione is depleted. ATP depletion inhibits apoptosis, and causes necrosis, usually via failure of the sodium and/or calcium pumps.

involves a dramatic increase in the permeability of the inner mitochondrial membrane to all molecules <1500 Da [32]. Sustained opening of the permeability transition pore (PTP) generally leads to necrotic cell death, as in this state the mitochondria can rapidly hydrolyse mitochondrial and cytosolic ATP. However, transient permeability transition can lead to apoptosis, as the mitochondria swell, rupturing the outer membrane, leading to release of cytochrome *c*, which triggers caspase activation, if ATP is maintained. Peroxynitrite, *S*-nitrosothiols and ROS can trigger mitochondrial permeability transition, and cytochrome *c* release, and can induce cell death by this means [33–35]. And excitotoxic death of neurons may be by similar means: glutamate activation of NMDA receptors, activating nNOS to produce peroxynitrite, which activates mitochondrial permeability transition (see below).

# Poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP)

PARP is a DNA-repair enzyme, which can also mediate cell death induced by NO. Of the multiple forms of the enzyme, PARP1 is predominant and localized exclusively to the nucleus where it is activated by DNA strand breaks [36]. PARP1 attaches long stretches of ADP-ribose to nuclear targets such as histones and PARP1 itself, utilizing NAD<sup>+</sup> as the substrate, which triggers chromatin-structure relaxation and increases the access of DNA-repair enzymes to the DNA strand break. However, overactivation of PARP by excess DNA damage depletes NAD<sup>+</sup> (PARP's substrate), and thereby depletes ATP, because ATP is used to remake NAD<sup>+</sup>, and because NAD<sup>+</sup> depletion inhibits glycolysis. ATP depletion in turn causes necrotic cell death. Neurotoxicity of cultured neurons is markedly diminished by PARP inhibitors [37], and stroke damage following middle cerebral artery occlusion is reduced up to 80% in PARP1<sup>-/-</sup> mice [38]. In rodents, PARP inhibitors substantially reduce stroke damage [39]. Peroxynitrite causes damage to DNA, which results in PARP activation [36]. PARP activation by brain ischemia is decreased in nNOS-knockout mice, suggesting that ischemia activates nNOS to produce peroxynitrite, which activates PARP, causing neuronal death via energy depletion [40].

How PARP1 activation causes neuronal death remains somewhat mysterious, but appears to involve NAD<sup>+</sup> depletion, followed by mitochondrial permeabilization (possibly by activation of the permeability transition pore), followed by AIF (apoptosis inducing factor) release from mitochondria, going to the nucleus where AIF causes DNA fragmentation. AIF appears to contribute to neuronal death induced by ischemia [41], consistent with AIF being downstream of PARP activation. PARP1 activation within glia may also mediate inflammation via aiding NF- $\kappa$ B function, so that PARP1 inhibition may protect partly by blocking microglial inflammation [42,43].

#### *Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH)*

*S*-nitros(yl)ation or oxidation of GAPDH has been linked to neuronal death either via inhibition of glycolysis in the cytosol or activation of ubiquitination and acetylation in the nucleus [44–46]). Peroxynitrite and other RONS oxidizes the active-site cysteine residue of GAPDH, inhibiting its dehydrogenase activity and inducing an acyl phosphatase activity in the enzyme [47]. This results in uncoupling of glycolytic flux from ATP synthesis by substrate level phosphorylation. NO-producing macrophages or cells exposed to NO donors exhibit reduced GAPDH activity, increased glycolysis and decreased ATP content and turnover, potentially leading to ATP-depletion-induced necrosis.

NO from iNOS or nNOS may lead to S-nitros(yl)ation of GAPDH at its catalytic cysteine (C152 for human GAPDH), abolishing catalytic activity and thus inhibiting glycolysis, but conferring upon GAPDH the ability to bind to Siah1, an E3-ubiquitin-ligase. Siah1, which possesses a nuclear localization signal, escorts GAPDH to the nucleus. Within the nucleus, GAPDH stabilizes the rapidly turning over Siah1, enabling its E3-ubiquitin-ligase activity to degrade diverse nuclear proteins that lead to cell death. Nuclear GAPDH is acetylated at Lys 160 by the acetyltransferase p300/CREB binding protein (CBP), which in turn stimulates the acetylation and catalytic activity of p300/CBP. Consequently, downstream targets of p300/CBP, such as p53 are activated and cause cell death [48]. Deprenyl is a drug that potently antagonizes S-nitros(yl)ation of GAPDH, prevents NO-induced cell death and is neuroprotective [49]. The neurotoxicity seen in Huntington's disease may involve the NO-GAPDH-Siah1 cascade [50-52]. The neurotoxicity of mutant Huntingtin, which accounts for cytotoxicity, requires nuclear translocation of its N-terminal fragment, which lacks a nuclear localization signal [53]. Mutant Huntingtin occurs in a ternary complex with GAPDH and Siah1, which mediates its nuclear translocation and cytotoxicity [52].

# NO-induced apoptosis

As noted above high levels of NO induce RONS, which cause oxidative/nitrosative stress to cells. This stress can in turn induce apoptosis by diverse mechanisms, including: (i) induction of p53, (ii) ER stress, (iii) activation of mitochondrial permeability transition to cause cytochrome c release (see section above), and (iv) activation of the p38 or other MAP kinase pathways (Fig. 2).

# p53

Pharmacological levels of NO (>200 nM) can induce p53 [15], via RONS-induced DNA damage or GAPDH/Siah1, and p53 may then induce apoptosis via PUMA expression or possible direct action on mitochondria to cause cytochrome c release. However, nitrosation of p53 may prevent its translocation to mitochondria [54]. Pharmacological levels of NO cause death of astrocytes via p53 phosphorylation and Bax translocation to mitochondria [55],



**Fig. 2.** Mechanisms by which NO/RNS cause oxidative apoptosis. NO can induce oxidative and/or nitrosative stress, which activates the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis by several different pathways, including: (i) stimulation of MPT, (ii) upregulation of p53, (iii) activation of the p38 MAP kinase pathway, and (iv) induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress.

but the caspases become inactivated probably by the RONS (see below).

#### ER stress

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress is a cellular stress condition, involving endoplasmic reticulum dysfunction, induced by unfolded proteins, viral infection or calcium overload. ER stress induces expression of proteins such as chaperones, and may induce apoptosis. ER stress has been implicated in neurodegeneration. High NO levels, peroxynitrite or iNOS expression can induce expression of CHOP/GADD153, a C/EBP family transcription factor mediating ER stress-induced apoptosis in a range of cell types including microglia [56]. In cerebellar granule neurons, there is limited evidence that high levels (1 mM) of S-nitrosoglutathione (GSNO) induce ER stress (measured by ER calcium release and CHOP expression) and cell death [57]. But there was no evidence in this paper that the effect of GSNO was mediated by NO, or that the induced death was due to ER stress. It is possible that GSNO induced ER stress in these neurons by S-nitros(yl)ation and inhibition of protein-disulphide isomerase (PDI), as S-nitrosocysteine (SNOC) has been shown to S-nitros(yl)ate purified PDI and thence inhibits it [58]. PDI is mainly located in the ER, where it catalyses protein thiol-disulphide exchange, which helps proteins fold. In primary cultures of cortical neurons it was found that excitotoxicity induced by NMDA (see below) caused S-nitros(yl)ation of PDI, accumulation of polyubiquitinated proteins, CHOP expression and apoptosis, all of which were prevented by inhibition of nNOS, and the last three effects were prevented by overexpression of PDI [58]. The authors concluded that NMDA activated nNOS via the NMDA receptor, resulting in S-nitros(yl)ation and hence inhibition of PDI, which resulted in accumulation of misfolded proteins, that induced neuronal dysfunction and death. However, there was no quantification of the % of PDI S-nitros(yl)ated or direct evidence that S-nitros(yl)ation was responsible for cell death, although they did show that overexpressing wild-type (but not dominant negative) PDI prevented cell death.

# p38

Peroxynitrite or high NO can induce apoptosis via activation of the p38 MAP kinase pathway [59] And NO-induced activation of p38 MAPK appears to mediate neuronal loss in some models of ischaemic brain damage [60]. However, in some cases activation of p38 may be downstream of peroxynitrite-induced intracellular zinc release causing mitochondrial permeability transition in neurons [61].

### NO inhibition of apoptosis

Although NO can induce apoptosis via RONS, NO can also inhibit apoptosis induced by other agents in neurons [62]. Several mechanisms have been suggested (Fig. 3), including: (a) cGMP/PKGmediated inhibition mitochondrial permeability transition [63]), (b) cGMP/PKG-mediated activation of the PI-3K/Akt survival pathway, (d) S-nitros(yl)ation of caspases, (f) activation of MAP kinase pathways, (g) activation of transcription factors NF-kB and/or AP-1 [64], (h) increased expression of heat shock proteins and Bcl-2 [65], and (i) mitochondrial hyperpolarization [66].

Low levels of NO have been shown to partially block MPT via a cGMP/PKG pathway, in heart and liver, and ischemic preconditioning of heart is thought to be mediated by this pathway [67]. In astrocytes, this pathway mediates an inhibition of apoptosis by low levels of NO [63,68]. If this protective pathway was operational in neurons, it might protect against excitotoxicity, but there is no evidence for or against NO blocking MPT in neurons.

The active-site cysteine residue of caspases can be inactivated by *S*-nitros(yl)ation [69] or oxidation e.g. by  $H_2O_2$  [70]. Thus if NO exposure is chronic e.g. from iNOS, then the caspases may be activated then inactivated by RONS. However, inhibition of caspases by NO does not generally prevent neuronal death [71], because cells usually commit to cell death before caspase activation. And it is unclear that *S*-nitros(yl)ation of caspases could ever be quantitatively sufficient to significantly inhibit cellular caspase activity, given that the percentage of a given protein species *S*-nitros (yl)ated in a cell is generally low, and pro-caspases have buried active-site cysteine residues that are unlikely to be susceptible to *S*-nitros(yl)ation.

Cerebellar granule neurons expressing nNOS in culture appear to be dependent on this NO for survival via cGMP-dependent activation of: (i) the Akt survival pathway [72], and/or (ii) CREB (cGMP-dependent cAMP-responsive element binding protein) and Bcl-2 expression [73]. NO can also prevent 6-hydroxydopamine-induced apoptosis in PC12 cells through a cGMP-dependent activation of PI3 kinase and thence Akt [74].

In vivo NO can also protective neurons against local ischemia in the brain via the vasodilatory action of NO, and this can be induced by either eNOS or iNOS [75].

# How can NO both induce apoptosis and inhibit apoptosis?

Part of the answer is simply that these actions of NO are mediated by different pathways, and are activated by different concentrations of NO. Wink et al. [76] distinguished five distinct



**Fig. 3.** Mechanisms by which NO/RNS cause cytoprotection. Low levels of NO can induce cytoprotection via cGMP-mediated: vasodilation, Akt activation and MPT (mitochondrial permeability transition) inhibition. High levels of NO may protect by RONS-mediated activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B and MAP kinase pathways, or via S-nitros(yl)ation of caspases or the NMDA receptor (NMDAR).

concentration levels of NO activity: cGMP-mediated processes ([NO] < 1–30 nM), Akt phosphorylation ([NO] = 30–100 nM), stabilization of HIF-1 $\alpha$  ([NO] = 100–300 nM), phosphorylation of p53 ([NO] > 400 nM), and nitrosative stress (1  $\mu$ M). This distinction is certainly simplistic, but illustrates that the anti-apoptotic actions of NO are at lower concentrations than the pro-apoptotic actions. That high concentrations of NO can induce apoptosis, when low concentrations inhibit, must mean either that the particular antiapoptotic pathways activated by NO do not block the particular pro-apoptotic pathways activated by NO, or that they are not sufficiently strong to fully block the pro-apoptotic pathways. The latter is presumably the case in SH-SY5Y neuronal cells where NO activates Akt signalling, which partially but not fully protects against the NO-induced apoptosis [77,78]. The anti-apoptotic action of NO may also have a limited timescale in neurons [79].

# RONS-induced phagocytosis

How apoptosis causes cell death is, surprisingly, not always clear, but in vivo the main means is by triggering exposure of 'eat-me' signals (such as phosphatidylserine) on the cell surface, which induce phagocytes to eat the cell. RONS can induce PS exposure directly via activation of the phospholipid scramblase and inactivation of aminophospholipid translocase (flippase) [80] or indirectly via induction of apoptosis [2,77,78], see Fig. 4. However, it is important to realise that phosphatidylserine exposure can be reversible [81] including NO-induced phosphatidylserine exposure of neurons [82]. And RONS-induced PS exposure of neurons may induce inflammatory activation of microglia [2,77,78], which may then phagocytose the neurons. Thus we find that at low levels RONS-induced neuronal loss can be prevented simply by blocking phagocytosis (unpublished).

# NO, excitotoxicity and ischemia

# NO-induced excitotoxicity

Neurons in culture are sensitive to cell death induced by NO, NO donors or NO-producing cells. A major cause of this sensitivity is that NO causes mitochondrial inhibition, glutamate release and subsequent excitotoxic death of neurons [83], see Fig. 5. Thus NO-induced death of cultured neurons is strongly blocked by inhibitors of the NMDA receptor [84,85]. High concentrations of



**Fig. 4.** Mechanisms by which NO/RNS cause phagocytosis. NO/RONS can activate phagocytosis by causing phosphatidylserine (PS) exposure on the outside of a cell, via either inhibiting a PS flippase (aminophospholipid translocase, catalyses ATP dependent PS transport in) or stimulating a scramblase (randomises phospholipids in the membrane). Inhibition of the flippase is either direct (by thiol modification) or via ATP depletion. Stimulation of the scamblase is either via elevating cytosolic calcium or via activating apoptosis.

extracellular glutamate (the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain) can kill neurons via activation of glutamate receptors (either the NMDA receptor or the AMPA receptor), and such neuronal death is known as excitotoxic death [86]. Activation of the NMDA receptor to form a cation channel (allowing both Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> into the neuron) requires both an excitatory neurotransmitters, such as glutamate or aspartate (or agonist NMDA, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate), and depolarization of the plasma membrane. Thus respiratory inhibitors strongly potentiate glutamate-induced death by depolarising the plasma membrane, greatly sensitising neurons to extracellular glutamate [87]. Because NO acutely inhibits mitochondrial respiration and causes glutamate release, it induces excitotoxicity.

## NO-induced glutamate release

High levels of NO causes acute (within seconds) glutamate release from neurons, [83,88,89], which has been attributed either to inhibition of mitochondrial respiration followed by reversal of glutamate uptake [83,88,90], or to a direct (calcium-independent) activation of vesicular exocytosis by modifying protein thiols [91,92]. The latter effect requires high levels of *S*-nitro(sy)lating NO donors, and is blocked by Botulinum neurotoxins that inactivate the exocytosis machinery, but it is unclear whether NO itself at reasonable levels could cause exocytosis by this means. Peroxynitrite can also activate vesicular exocytosis, apparently by nitration of exocytotic proteins [93], but again it unclear whether this could occur at reasonable levels of peroxynitrite. High NO induces acute glutamate release also from astrocytes, but in this case by causing intracellular calcium release followed by calcium activation of vesicular exocytosis [94], see Fig. 7.

# NO-induced excitotoxicity mediated by caspases and calpains

NO- or peroxynitrite-induced excitotoxicity of cultured neurons is not blocked by PARP1 knockout, but is blocked by caspase inhibitors or calpain inhibitors [84,85,95,96].

Calpain inhibitors can block glutamate, NMDA or NO-induced excitotoxicity, but the mechanism by which calpain mediates neuronal death is not entirely clear. Calpains are a family of cysteine proteases of which the best characterized are: (i) calpain I (calpain



**Fig. 5.** Mechanisms by which NO/RNS cause excitotoxicity. NO/RNS-induced respiratory inhibition causes neuronal ATP depletion, decreasing the plasma membrane sodium gradient and membrane potential, resulting in glutamate release, which together with the decrease in membrane potential ( $\Delta \psi_P$ ) activates the NMDA (*N*-methyl-D-aspartate) receptor, causing excitotoxicity. NO/RNS may also cause glutamate release by stimulating exocytosis of glutamate-containing vesicles in neurons and astrocytes.

 $\mu$ ) activated by micromolar calcium, and (ii) calpain II (calpain m) activated by millimolar calcium. Calpain I is located primarily in the neuronal cytoplasm and is activated by excessive calcium entering the cell via the NMDA receptor (or other routes). Chronic activation of this protease causes it to degrade the cytoskeleton, neurofilaments and ion channels, leading to necrotic cell death. However, more recently it has been shown that excitotoxicity is mediated by calpain I truncation of mitochondrial AIF (apoptosis inducing factor), leading to AIF translocation from mitochondria to nucleus, where AIF causes DNA fragmentation [97,98]. Calpain I can also truncate Bid (to tBid), which can then directly cause AIF and cytochrome *c* release from mitochondria [99]. AIF is emerging as a key mediator of excitotoxic neuronal death in ischemia and traumatic brain injury, see Fig. 6.

#### nNOS-mediated excitotoxicity

nNOS in neurons is partly bound close to the NMDA receptor, and is activated by calcium entering via the receptor-gated ion channel. There is evidence that this nNOS activation contributes to excitotoxicity, i.e. glutamate killing of neurons. In culture, NMDA-induced neurotoxicity is decreased by NOS inhibitors [100,58] and is decreased in neurons isolated from nNOS<sup>-/-</sup> mice [101]. In vivo damage following middle cerebral artery occlusion (a model of brain ischemia) is diminished by treatment with NOS inhibitors [102] and in nNOS<sup>-/-</sup> mice [103].

However, if glutamate kills neurons via NO from nNOS (this section), and NO kills neurons via glutamate release and activation of NMDA receptors (previous section), we have a bit of a paradox. This paradox may be resolved if: glutamate kills neurons also independently of NO, and/or NO also kills neurons independently of glutamate. Now both of these get-out clauses clearly apply in some conditions, i.e. many researchers find NOS inhibitors only partially protect neurons from glutamate or NMDA (or do not protect at all),



**Fig. 6.** Mechanisms of glutamate-induced neuronal death. Extracellular glutamate activates neuronal NMDA receptors (NMDAR) and AMPA receptors (AMPAR), which decrease plasma membrane potential  $(\Delta \psi_p)$ , which increases cytosolic calcium and activates NMDAR, which also increases calcium. Calcium elevation may: (i) stimulate nNOS production of NO and peroxynitrite, which activates mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) and activates poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP), which induces death by energy depletion and induces AIF release from mitochondria; (ii) activates DNA strand breaks; and (iii) activates calpain, which induces AIF release and Bid cleavage, which may itself induce AIF release and cytochrome *c* release (also caused by calcium activation of calcineurin to dephosphorylate Bad, resulting in Bax activation), which activates caspases.

and NO can kill neurons independently of the glutamate and NMDA receptor (particularly when the NO level is high or sustained).

Garthwaite and colleagues [104] have suggested that during excitotoxicity NO can become artifactually toxic in cell culture conditions. They found that components of cell culture media (such as riboflavin) cause rapid breakdown of NO into peroxynitrite [105], and these reactions may contribute artifactually to excitotoxicity in culture.

However, it is clear from in vivo experiments that nNOS inhibitors or inactivation of the nNOS gene can partially prevent ischemia-induced brain damage in rats and mice [103,104,106]. One possible mechanism for this role of nNOS in ischaemic damage, is the NO inhibition of cytochrome oxidase in competition with oxygen. Ischemia kills neurons primarily by reducing the oxygen supply to cytochrome oxidase. But NO can dramatically increase the apparent  $K_M$  of cytochrome oxidase for oxygen, because it directly competes with oxygen for binding to cytochrome oxidase. Thus the K<sub>M</sub> for cytochrome oxidase and neuronal respiration for oxygen is about 0.5  $\mu$ M in the absence of NO, but in the presence of 60 nM NO the  $K_M$  increases to 30  $\mu$ M O<sub>2</sub> [107], which is the median level of oxygen in the healthy brain. We have shown that NO from nNOS in cultured neurons can increase the K<sub>M</sub> for oxygen in this way, and thereby sensitise neurons to hypoxia-induced death, which is thus partially prevented by nNOS inhibitors [108]. Whether this occurs in vivo is unknown.

Almeida and Bolanos [109] found that nNOS activation in cultured neurons caused a transient inhibition of neuronal mitochondria leading to apoptosis, even in normoxia. However, Keynes et al. [105] found that nNOS activation in slice cultures only produced sufficient NO to activate cGMP production, but not enough to inhibit mitochondrial respiration or induce neuronal death. And this led them to conclude that NO, at least low levels from nNOS, was largely neuroprotective in ischemic brain pathology [110].

NO or nNOS may also induce neuronal death via peroxynitrite. NO may react with superoxide produced elsewhere in the cell (e.g. mitochondria or the NADPH oxidase), or superoxide may be produced by nNOS itself particularly in conditions of low arginine or low BH4 or high oxygen. For example, in the absence of



**Fig. 7.** Mechanisms by which activated glia kill neurons. Activated glia express iNOS and produce NO that (a) causes calcium mobilization from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), which activates release of vesicular glutamate from astrocytes, and (b) inhibits mitochondrial (mito) respiration in neurons synergistically with hypoxia. This mitochondrial inhibition depolarises the neuron, causing both release of glutamate via the glutamate transporter (GluT) and sensitization of the NMDA receptor (NMDA), resulting in neuronal death. Activated microglia may also release: (i) glutamate that contributes to the activation of the NMDA receptor, and (b) superoxide from NADPH oxidase, which reacts with superoxide to produce peroxynitrite, which induces neuronal death.

L-arginine, NMDA caused superoxide production and cell death in cultured neurons, which was prevented by L-arginine or by nNOS inhibitors, and the death was also blocked by peroxynitrite or superoxide scavengers [111]. They concluded that at low arginine levels, nNOS produces superoxide and thence peroxynitrite, which kills the neurons by activating mitochondrial permeability transition. They further showed that glia can produce extracellular Larginine sufficient to protect neurons from NMDA-induced death in culture.

Peroxynitrite produced as a result of nNOS activation may also inactivate the mitochondrial superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD) via nitration, and this has been shown to occur in traumatic and ischaemic brain injury [112]. Inactivation of Mn-SOD will promote further superoxide and peroxynitrite production, but is unclear whether this inactivation contributes to the brain damage.

The three isoforms of NOS play different roles in ischaemic brain damage: eNOS protects (probably by maintaining vasodilation and promoting angiogenesis), nNOS mediates neuronal damage (probably by leading to peroxynitrite production), and iNOS can play protective or damaging roles or both [110]. Similarly in an animal model of excitotoxicity, nNOS mediated the neuronal loss, eNOS mediated the blood-brain barrier breakdown, and iNOS had no detectable role [113].

# Mitochondrial fragmentation/fission induced by NO

Mitochondria in cells undergo slow continuous fission and fusion (with other mitochondria). If fusion predominates, then mitochondria form long, branched threads, and eventually a continuous network/reticulum in cells. If fission predominates, then the number of small, discrete, roundish mitochondria greatly increases in cells. Mitochondrial fission in mammals is mediated in part by dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp1), which is normally located in cytoplasm, but translocates to mitochondria and oligomerizes on the outer membrane to mediate fission. During apoptosis, mitochondria often fission/fragment mediated by Drp1, and this also appears to occur in neurons during brain ischemia [114]. Bossy-Wetzel and colleagues showed that NMDA can induce rapid mitochondrial fission in cortical neurons, and this can be partially blocked by NOS inhibitors [114]. S-nitrosocysteine (SNOC, 100  $\mu$ M, generating 3  $\mu$ M NO) caused rapid (3 h) mitochondrial fission in cortical neurons, which was partially blocked by expression of a dominant negative version of Drp1, or by overexpression of Mfn1 (which mediated mitochondrial fusion). And these treatments also blocked SNOC-induced neuronal death, indicating that SNOC-induced neuronal death via activating Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission. Note, however, that NMDA-induced neuronal death was not blocked by expression of Mfn1 or mutant Drp1. And the unphysiologically high levels of SNOC and NO used are likely to have caused unphysiological S-nitros(yl)ation [115], inhibition of mitochondrial respiration and induced permeability transition. Mitochondrial complex I inhibitors: rotenone and 1methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP<sup>+</sup>), which induce a Parkinson's like syndrome, and  $\beta$ -amyloid (associated with Alzheimer's disease), also induced mitochondrial fission in neurons that was blocked by expression of Mfn1 or mutant Drp1 [114]. Bossy-Wetzel and colleagues subsequently showed that the SNOC-induced mitochondrial fission in neurons was associated with Bax translocation to the fission sites on mitochondria, and this translocation and the subsequent neuronal death (but not the fission) could be blocked by overexpression of Bcl-xL [116]. Lipton and colleagues then showed that SNOC could induce S-nitros(yl)ation of Drp1 in neurons, and this triggered mitochondrial fission, which was necessary but not sufficient for neuronal death [117]. They also showed that β-amyloid induced mitochondrial fission in neurons and subsequent neuronal death via S-nitros(yl)ation of Drp1 (however, see section on *S*-nitros(yl)ation and neurodegenerative disease below). In relation to this literature it should be remembered that mitochondrial fission is a physiological process, and fission alone does not induce cell death, rather cell death may in certain circumstances require fission or be enhanced by fission.

#### S-nitros(yl)ation of the NMDA receptor and PDI

NO from nNOS may alternatively protect against excitoxicity by *S*-nitros(yl)ating the NMDA receptor, rendering it inactive [118, 119]. So according to these authors (Lipton and Stamler and colleagues) whether NO induces neuronal death or protection depends on whether NO is converted to peroxynitrite (by superoxide) which induces death, or converted to *S*-nitrosothiols which induces protection. However, it is not clear how the NMDA receptor is *S*-nitros(yl)ated by NO. Garthwaite and colleagues have suggested that this *S*-nitro(syl)ation of the NMDA is a cell culture artefact requiring UV light [120]. Lipton and colleagues have also provided evidence that excitotoxic activation of nNOS causes *S*-nitros(yl)ation and thence inhibition of protein-disulphide isomerase (PDI), which results in ER stress-mediated dysfunction or death of neurons [58] (see section above on ER stress).

#### NO in inflammatory neurodegeneration

Inflammatory neurodegeneration is neuronal degeneration induced by inflammation. Astrocytes and microglia (brain macrophages) become activated in most CNS pathologies, including during infection, trauma, aging, after ischemia or stroke, and most inflammatory and neurodegenerative diseases. We and others [121,122] have identified various modes and mechanism by which inflammatory-activated glia kill neurons in culture (Figs. 7 and 8). The first mode is mediated by high levels of iNOS expression in glia [83,121]. We showed that the resulting high levels of NO induce neuronal death by causing inhibition of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase in neurons [83,107]. NO inhibition of neuronal respiration caused neuronal depolarization and glutamate release, followed by excitotoxicity via the NMDA receptor [83,88,123,124,108]. This excitotoxicity may be potentiated by a second mechanism, as NO from iNOS results in glutamate release from astrocytes via calcium release from intracellular stores stimulating exocytosis of vesicular glutamate [94]. Thus inflammatory-activated astrocytes maintained a higher extracellular glutamate level [94], which is probably not sufficient to induce excitotoxicity alone, but may well be sufficient if in addition neuronal respiration is inhibited so that



**Fig. 8.** Hypoxia or PHOX synergise with NOS to induce neuronal death. NOS (NO synthase) activation alone may by neuroprotective, but when activated at the same time as hypoxia or PHOX (phagocyte NADPH oxidase) may result in neuronal death. PHOX activation alone (or hypoxia alone) may result in activation of microglia without neuronal death.

NMDA receptor is activated by both depolarization and glutamate [125].

#### Peroxynitrite and ALS

# NO and hypoxia

However, the above mechanism require relatively high levels of NO or iNOS expression, and iNOS can be expressed in vitro [126,127] or in vivo [128] apparently with little or no neuronal death. Indeed NO from iNOS may be protective by blocking brain cell death [63,129,130]. On the other hand, low levels of iNOS expression may synergize with other conditions to induce cell death [131]. For example, hypoxia strongly synergizes with NO or iNOS expression to induce neuronal death via respiratory inhibition [126]. This is because NO inhibits cytochrome oxidase in competition with oxygen, so that NO greatly increases the apparent K<sub>M</sub> of neuronal respiration for oxygen [126]. This sensitization to hypoxia is potentially importance in stroke, trauma, vascular dementia, Alzheimer's and brain aging, where both inflammation and hypoxia may coexist.

# NADPH oxidase

A second mode that we identified was the dual-key (iNOS and PHOX) mechanism of inflammatory neurodegeneration [127]. We found that activation of iNOS or the NADPH oxidase (NOX/PHOX) alone caused little or no neuronal death, but when both were activated together, this caused considerable neuronal death mediated by peroxynitrite. We showed that inflammatory neurodegeneration induced by TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , prion peptide, LPS, IFN $\gamma$ , arachidonate, ATP and/or PMA was mediated by this mechanism in particular conditions [127]. Simultaneous activation of PHOX and iNOS in microglia resulted in the disappearance of NO [132], appearance of peroxynitrite, and massive death of co-cultured neurons that was prevented by inhibitors of iNOS or PHOX, or by scavengers of superoxide or peroxynitrite [127].

Importantly however, activation of PHOX alone caused no neuronal death [126], but did activate the microglia to proliferate [133] and release TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in response to fibrillar  $\beta$ -amyloid [134]. PHOX has been shown by many other labs to be a key regulator of inflammatory activation of microglia [122], and thus potentially a target for anti-inflammatory strategies.

# Mitochondrial electron transport

NO and NO-producing astrocytes cause reversible and irreversible damage to respiratory complexes of neuronal and astrocyte mitochondria [135]. This irreversible damage may be mediated by: (i) oxidation or nitration of the respiratory complexes by peroxynitrite, (ii) NO-induced glutamate release and excitotoxicity, as it is blocked by NMDA receptor antagonists [122], or (iii) NO or peroxynitrite inhibition of cytochrome oxidase causing ROS production resulting in secondary damage of other respiratory complexes (possibly by peroxynitrite) [136].

#### Anti-inflammatory NO

Low levels of NO from nNOS in neurons and astrocytes may be anti-inflammatory by blocking activation of astrocytes and microglia [137]. Activation of soluble guanylate cyclase blocks inflammatory activation of microglia in culture [138]. Hence chronic nNOS inhibition may promote inflammatory neurodegeneration in vivo [139].

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a subtype of motor neuron disease, and a proportion of ALS is due to inheritance of mutants of Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase (SOD1). The SOD1 mutants are toxic to motor neurons, but the mechanism of this toxicity is unclear and controversial. However, one hypothesis is that the mutant SODs lose zinc, making their active-site copper more accessible to reductants, and this reduced copper reduces oxygen to superoxide, which may in turn react with NO to produce peroxynitrite. This peroxynitrite may then contribute to neuronal death directly, or be used by mutant SOD to nitrate other proteins [140]. This type of mechanism may also be relevant in non-genetic ALS, as wild-type SOD1 can lose Zn in a variety of conditions, resulting in a SOD which is equally toxic to motor neurons. We showed a related reaction on wild-type SOD1: SOD1 catalyses rapid peroxynitrite production and nitration in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and NO, and this is sufficient to induce cell death in the presence of NO and  $H_2O_2$ [26]. In addition there is an inflammatory reaction in ALS which appears to contribute to the pathology [141], thus neuronal loss may be inflammatory neurodegeneration.

# S-nitros(yl)ation and neurodegenerative disease

NO production can (probably via RNS) result in S-nitros(vl)ation of many proteins [142,143]), including MMP-9, parkin, and GAPDH, which has been linked to neuronal death [144]. However, research on S-nitros(yl)ation remains controversial [145]. Partly this is because it is unclear how proteins become S-nitros(yl)ated. Also levels of S-nitros(yl)ation are rarely quantified, but when quantified are usually low, suggesting the modification may not be functionally significant and/or S-nitros(yl)ation is unstable. Evidence for S-nitro(sy)lation of proteins is mainly based on the biotin-switch assay [146], which does not always reliably distinguish between S-nitros(yl)ated, oxidised or reduced cysteine residues [147]. And in cellular conditions, S-nitros(yl)ated thiols are unstable and tend to react relatively rapidly to leave oxidised thiols (dithiols, sulfinic or sulfonic acid derivatives). Using the biotin-switch assay, several proteins have been identified as S-nitros(yl)ated in healthy brain (or rather freshly isolated homogenate of rat cerebellum), including tubulin, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), the sodium pump ATPase, and NMDA receptors [145]. Basal S-nitros(yl) ation of these proteins was abolished in the brains of  $nNOS^{-/-}$  mice, supporting a physiological role for S-nitros(yl)ation. However, it is not entirely clear that this assay was detecting S-nitros(yl)ation, and the level of endogenous modification was very low compared to that induced by added S-nitros(yl)ating agents. The point here is NOT that the biotin-switch method is not a good and sensitive method for detecting S-nitros(yl)ation of proteins, but rather that if the user is not very careful, it can artifactually over or under detect S-nitros(yl)ation for a whole variety of reasons reviewed in [146], and it is rarely used quantitatively to give the % of a particular protein S-nitros(yl)ated.

There is evidence that neurotoxicity may involve excess *S*-nitros(yl)ation. For instance, cerebral ischemia augments *S*-nitros(yl)ation of matrix metalloprotease-9 (MMP-9), stimulating its activity and leading to the formation of stable sulfinic or sulfonic acid derivatives whose irreversible activation may trigger neuronal apoptosis [148]. Parkin is an E3-ubiquitin-ligase whose mutation is associated with some forms of genetically determined Parkinson's disease [149]. In Parkinson's disease, *S*-nitros(yl)ation of parkin inhibits its E3-ubiquitin-ligase activity and protective function, promoting cytotoxicity [150,151]. Also in Parkinson's disease, there is evidence of *S*-nitros(yl)ation of XIAP, blocking its ability to inhibit caspases, and thereby promoting apoptosis ([152]). In Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease there is evidence suggesting *S*-nitros(yl)ation of protein disulfide isomerase (PDI), which leads to disruption of protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum, which may cause ER stress and contribute to the protein aggregation that characterizes these and other diseases [58] (see section above on ER stress). But again it was not demonstrated that the level of *S*-nitros(yl)ation in diseased brains was sufficient to have a functional effect – this would require quantification of the % of PDI *S*-nitros(yl)ated.

There is evidence from a variety of sources that inhibition of mitochondrial complex I is involved in Parkinson's disease [153]. For example, the substantia nigra from Parkinson's disease patients has decreased complex I activity, and inhibitors of complex I (rotenone or MPTP) induce Parkinson's syndromes in humans and animals. Incubation of cells with NO results in inactivation of complex I, which is partly mediated by S-nitros(yl)ation, and which is reversed by light of reduced thiols [154–157]. Inhibition is probably mediated by S-nitrosothiols or peroxynitrite, and is dependent on a reversible conformational change of complex I [158]. There is also an irreversible inhibition of complex I by NO/RNS probably mediated by oxidation, nitration and/or release of iron from iron-sulphur centres [159,160,18]. S-nitros(yl)ation of complex I inhibits electron transport, but stimulates ROS production by mitochondria [22,157], which might contribute to cell dysfunction or death. Whether this S-nitros(yl)ation of complex I occurs in Parkinson's or other brain diseases in unknown. MPTP (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine, or its active metabolite MPP<sup>+</sup>) is a complex I inhibitor, which induces a Parkinson's syndrome in humans and animals, and surprisingly this appears to be mediated by nNOS and iNOS, in that iNOS or nNOS-knockout mice are protected from the dopaminergic neuronal loss (and nNOS inhibitors prevent such loss) [161-164]. Neuronal loss in Parkinson's appears to involve inflammatory neurodegeneration (see section above).

In relation to Alzheimer's disease, it has recently been found that β-amyloid can induce mitochondrial fission and neuronal death via promoting S-nitros(yl)ation of Drp1, a key mediator of mitochondrial fission [117] (see Mitochondrial fission section above), and that S-nitros(yl)ated Drp1 is increased in brain samples from people dying with Alzheimer's disease. However, more recently it was reported that S-nitros(yl)ation of Drp-1 had no effect on its function, and that levels of S-nitros(yl)ated Drp-1 were unchanged in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's brains [165]. Rather NO triggered phosphorylation of Drp-1, which mediated its recruitment to mitochondria [165]. Neuronal loss in Alzheimer's disease involves inflammation and may progress by inflammatory neurodegeneration [166]. However, there is some evidence that NO from iNOS may be protective: iNOS-knockout mice crossed with amyloid precursor protein (APP) mutant knockin mice, have increased neuronal loss and pathology [167].

A variety of neuronal stressors have been found to cause *S*-nitrosylation of GAPDH that binds to Siah and translocates to the nucleus, where the complex augments p300/CBP-associated acetylation of nuclear proteins, including p53, which mediate neuronal death (see section on GAPDH above). Recently is was found that a cytosolic protein, GOSPEL, prevented excitotoxicity by binding GAPDH, in competition with Siah, retaining GAPDH in the cytosol. Furthermore, *S*-nitrosylation of GOSPEL enhanced GAPDH-GOSPEL binding and the neuroprotective actions of GOSPEL in culture and in vivo [168]. The neurotoxicity of Huntingtin in Huntington's disease may involve the NO-GAPDH-Siah1 cascade [50–53] (see section on GAPDH above).

#### Conclusions

#### Things that are clear, unclear or needing clarification

It is clear that at high concentrations NO can kill neurons in culture, whereas low concentrations of NO can protect some neurons

against some stimuli. In vivo, it is clear that nNOS-knockout mice are partially protected against ischemia- and excitotoxin induced neuronal death, indicating that nNOS-derived NO is damaging in this context. It is less clear how NO- from nNOS is toxic to neurons in vivo, although there is no shortage of mechanisms worked out in culture, involving either NO, peroxynitrite or S-nitros(yl)ation. Extrapolation of these in vitro studies to in vivo is complicated because it is still unclear what the levels of NO, peroxynitrite and S-nitrosothiols are in vivo. Roles for S-nitros(yl)ation in both protection (via the NMDA receptor) and damage (via PDI, Drp-1 or mitochondrial complex I) remain controversial, because of the lack of specificity, stability and quantification of protein S-nitros(yl)ation, and lack of understanding as to how such S-nitros(yl)ation occurs. However, similar criticisms could be levelled at the general presumption that peroxynitrite is responsible for pathology, which is often based on the finding that peroxynitrite scavengers block pathology, when the specificity of these scavengers is unclear, and peroxynitrite-induced protein nitration or oxidation is rarely quantified. The theory that neuronal death is mediated by NO inhibition of cytochrome oxidase in competition with oxygen remains untested in vivo.

The role of iNOS-derived NO in neuropathology is less clear (than nNOS), probably because it has both protective and damaging effects. For example, iNOS-derived peroxynitrite, if it does not kill neurons, can induce protection against subsequent insults in vivo [169]. A recent study of three different strains of iNOS-knockout found no effect of iNOS on infarct size after transient focal brain ischemia, and there was no induction of iNOS expression by ischemia [170]. However, there are in vivo experiments showing that iNOS-knockout mice are protected against neuronal damage in models of Alzheimer's disease [171], Parkinson's disease [172], motor neuron disease [173], delayed brain damage [174] and peritheral nerve damage in diabetes [175]. This may suggest that iNOS is more likely to be toxic during chronic, rather than acute, inflammation.

# Acknowledgments

Relevant research in my laboratory has been supported by the Wellcome Trust, Alzheimer's Research Trust and Medical Research Council.

# References

- L. Zhou, D.Y. Zhu, Neuronal nitric oxide synthase: structure, subcellular localization, regulation, and clinical implications, Nitric Oxide 20 (2009) 223– 230.
- [2] C.N. Hall, J. Garthwaite, What is the real physiological NO concentration in vivo?, Nitric Oxide 21 (2009) 92–103
- [3] R.N. Saha, K. Pahan, Regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase gene in glial cells, Antioxid Redox Signal. 8 (2006) 929–947.
- [4] R. Pannu, I. Singh, Pharmacological strategies for the regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase: neurodegenerative versus neuroprotective mechanisms, Neurochem. Int. 49 (2006) 170–182.
- [5] J. Bustamante, A. Czerniczyniec, S. Lores-Arnaiz, Brain nitric oxide synthases and mitochondrial function, Front Biosci. 12 (2007) 1034–1040.
- [6] M.T. Gladwin, D.B. Kim-Shapiro, The functional nitrite reductase activity of the heme-globins, Blood 112 (2008) 2636–2647.
- [7] M. Herulf, B. Svenungsson, A. Lagergren, T. Ljung, E. Morcos, N.P. Wiklund, J.O. Lundberg, E.J. Weitzberg, Increased nitric oxide in infective gastroenteritis, Infect Dis. 180 (1999) 542–545.
- [8] J.O.N. Lundberg, T. Farkas-Szallasi, E. Weitzberg, J. Rinder, J. Lidholm, A. Anggaard, T. Hokfelt, J.M. Lundberg, K. Alving, High nitric oxide production in human paranasal sinuses, Nat. Med. 1 (1995) 370–373.
- [9] H. Björne, M. Govoni, D.C. Törnberg, J.O. Lundberg, E. Weitzberg, Intragastric nitric oxide is abolished in intubated patients and restored by nitrite, Crit. Care Med. 33 (2005) 1722–1727.
- [10] A.J. Thompson, P.K. Mander, G.C. Brown, The NO donor DETA-NONOate reversibly activates an inward current in neurons that is not mediated by nitric oxide, Br. J. Pharmacol. 158 (2009) 1338–1343.
- [11] T.C. Bellamy, C. Griffiths, J. Garthwaite, Differential sensitivity of guanylyl cyclase and mitochondrial respiration to nitric oxide measured using clamped concentrations, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 31801–31807.

- [12] J.R. Lancaster Jr., Nitroxidative, nitrosative, and nitrative stress: kinetic predictions of reactive nitrogen species chemistry under biological conditions, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 19 (2006) 1160–1174.
- [13] G. Ferrer-Sueta, R. Radi, Chemical biology of peroxynitrite: kinetics, diffusion, and radicals, ACS Chem. Biol. 4 (2009) 161–177.
- [14] M.N. Möller, Q. Li, J.R. Lancaster Jr., A. Denicola, Acceleration of nitric oxide autoxidation and nitrosation by membranes, IUBMB Life 59 (2007) 243–248.
- [15] Douglas D. Thomas, Michael Graham Espey, Lisa A. Ridnour, Lorne J. Hofseth, Daniele Mancardi, Curtis C. Harris, David A. Wink, Hypoxic inducible factor 1α, extracellular signal-regulated kinase, and p53 are regulated by distinct threshold concentrations of nitric oxide, PNAS 101 (2004) 8894–8899.
- [16] D.D. Thomas, L.A. Ridnour, M.G. Espey, S. Donzelli, S. Ambs, S.P. Hussain, C.C. Harris, W. DeGraff, D.D. Roberts, J.B. Mitchell, D.A. Wink, Superoxide fluxes limit nitric oxide-induced cignaling. J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 25984–25993.
- limit nitric oxide-induced signaling, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 25984–25993.
   [17] C.E. Cooper, C. Giulivi, Nitric oxide regulation of mitochondrial oxygen consumption II: molecular mechanism and tissue physiology, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292 (2007) C1993–C2003.
- [18] G.C. Brown, V. Borutaite, Inhibition of mitochondrial respiratory complex I by nitric oxide, peroxynitrite and S-nitrosothiols, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1658 (2004) 44–49.
- [19] J.D. Erusalimsky, S. Moncada, Nitric oxide and mitochondrial signaling: from physiology to pathophysiology, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27 (2007) 2524–2531.
- [20] G.C. Brown, V. Borutaite, Interactions between nitric oxide, oxygen, reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 34 (2006) 953–956.
- [21] V. Berka, L.H. Wang, A.L. Tsai, Oxygen-induced radical intermediates in the nNOS oxygenase domain regulated by 1-arginine, tetrahydrobiopterin, and thiol, Biochemistry 47 (2008) 405–420.
- [22] V. Borutaite, G.C. Brown, S-nitrosothiol inhibition of mitochondrial complex I causes a reversible increase in mitochondrial hydrogen peroxide production, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757 (2006) 562–566.
- [23] V. Tórtora, C. Quijano, B. Freeman, R. Radi, L. Castro, Mitochondrial aconitase reaction with nitric oxide, S-nitrosoglutathione, and peroxynitrite: mechanisms and relative contributions to aconitase inactivation, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 42 (2007) 1075–1088.
- [24] G.C. Brown, Reversible binding and inhibition of catalase by nitric oxide, Eur. J. Biochem. 232 (1995) 188–191.
- [25] S.N. Savvides, M. Scheiwein, C.C. Bohme, G.E. Arteel, P.A. Karplus, K. Becker, R.H. Schirmer, Crystal structure of the antioxidant enzyme glutathione reductase inactivated by peroxynitrite, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 2779–2784.
- [26] A.G. McBride, V. Borutaite, G.C. Brown, Superoxide dismutase and hydrogen peroxide cause rapid nitric oxide breakdown, peroxynitrite production and subsequent cell death, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1454 (1999) 275–288.
- [27] G.C. Brown, V. Borutaite, Nitric oxide inhibition of mitochondrial respiration and its role in cell death, Free Rad. Biol. Med. 33 (2002) 1440–1450.
- [28] A. Almeida, J. Almeida, J.P. Bolanos, S. Moncada, Different responses of astrocytes and neurons to nitric oxide: the role of glycolytically generated ATP in astrocyte protection, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98 (2001) 15294– 15299.
- [29] V. Borutaite, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide induces apoptosis via hydrogen peroxide, but necrosis via energy and thiol depletion, Free Rad. Biol. Med. 35 (2003) 1457–1468.
- [30] M.E. Gegg, B. Beltran, S. Salas-Pino, J.P. Bolanos, J.B. Clark, S. Moncada, S.J. Heales, Differential effect of nitric oxide on glutathione metabolism and mitochondrial function in astrocytes and neurones: implications for neuroprotection/neurodegeneration?, J Neurochem. 86 (2003) 228–237.
- [31] A. Bal-Price, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide induced necrosis and apoptosis in PC12 cells mediated by mitochondria, J. Neurochem. 75 (2000) 1455–1464.
  [32] P. Bernardi, M. Forte, The mitochondrial permeability transition pore,
- [32] P. Bernardi, M. Forte, The mitochondrial permeability transition pore, Novartis Found Symp. 287 (2007) 157–164.
- [33] M.A. Packer, M.P. Murphy, Peroxynitrite causes calcium efflux from mitochondria which is prevented by cyclosporin A, FEBS Lett. 345 (1994) 237–240.
- [34] V. Borutaite, R. Morkuniene, G.C. Brown, Release of cytochrome c from heart mitochondria is induced by high calcium and peroxynitrite and is responsible for calcium-induced inhibition of substrate oxidation, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1453 (1999) 41–48.
- [35] V. Borutaite, R. Morkuniene, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide donors, nitrosothiols and mitochondrial respiration inhibitors induce caspase activation by different mechanisms, FEBS Lett. 467 (2000) 155–159.
- [36] P. Jagtap, C. Szabo, Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase and the therapeutic effects of its inhibitors, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4 (2005) 421–440.
- [37] J. Zhang, V.L. Dawson, T.M. Dawson, S.H. Snyder, Nitric oxide activation of poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase in neurotoxicity, Science 263 (1994) 687–689.
- [38] M.J. Eliasson, K. Sampei, A.S. Mandir, P.D. Hurn, R.J. Traystman, et al., Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase gene disruption renders mice resistant to cerebral ischemia, Nat. Med. 3 (1997) 1089–1095.
   [39] G.E. Abdelkarim, K. Gertz, C. Harms, J. Katchanov, U. Dirnagl, et al., Protective
- [39] G.E. Abdelkarim, K. Gertz, C. Harms, J. Katchanov, U. Dirnagl, et al., Protective effects of PJ34, a novel, potent inhibitor of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) in in vitro and in vivo models of stroke, Int. J. Mol. Med. 7 (2001) 255– 260.
- [40] M. Endres, G. Scott, S. Namura, A.L. Salzman, P.L. Huang, M.A. Moskowitz, C. Szabó, Role of peroxynitrite and neuronal nitric oxide synthase in the activation of poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase in a murine model of cerebral ischemia-reperfusion, Neurosci Lett. 248 (1998) 41–44.

- [41] C. Zhu, X. Wang, Z. Huang, L. Qiu, F. Xu, N. Vahsen, M. Nilsson, P.S. Eriksson, H. Hagberg, C. Culmsee, N. Plesnila, G. Kroemer, K. Blomgren, Apoptosisinducing factor is a major contributor to neuronal loss induced by neonatal cerebral hypoxia-ischemia, Cell Death Differ. 14 (2007) 775–784.
- [42] T.M. Kauppinen, R.A. Swanson, The role of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 in CNS disease, Neuroscience 145 (2007) 1267–1272.
- [43] T.M. Kauppinen, R.A. Swanson, Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 promotes microglial activation, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinase-9mediated neuron death, J. Immunol. 174 (2005) 2288–2296.
- [44] R. Ishitan, D.M. Chuang, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase antisense oligodeoxynucleotides protect against cytosine arabinonucleoside-induced apoptosis in cultured cerebellar neurons, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93 (1996) 9937–9941.
- [45] A. Sawa, A.A. Khan, L.D. Hester, S.H. Snyder, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase: nuclear translocation participates in neuronal and nonneuronal cell death, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 11669–11674.
- [46] M.R. Hara, N. Agrawal, S.F. Kim, M.B. Cascio, M. Fujimuro, et al., Snitros(yl)ated GAPDH initiates apoptotic cell death by nuclear translocation following Siah1 binding, Nat. Cell Biol. 7 (2005) 665–674.
- [47] J.E. Albina, B. Mastrofrancesco, J.S. Reichner, Acyl phosphatase activity of NOinhibited glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH): a potential mechanism for uncoupling glycolysis from ATP generation in NO-producing cells, Biochem. J. 341 (1999) 5–9.
- [48] N. Sen, M.R. Hara, M.D. Kornberg, M.B. Cascio, B.I. Bae, N. Shahani, B. Thomas, T.M. Dawson, V.L. Dawson, S.H. Snyder, A. Sawa, Nitric oxide-induced nuclear GAPDH activates p300/CBP and mediates apoptosis, Nat Cell Biol. 10 (2008) 866–873.
- [49] M.R. Hara, B. Thomas, M.B. Cascio, B.I. Bae, L.D. Hester, V.L. Dawson, T.M. Dawson, A. Sawa, S.H. Snyder, Neuroprotection by pharmacologic blockade of the GAPDH death cascade, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (2006) 3887–3889.
- [50] J.R. Burke, J.J. Enghild, M.E. Martin, Y.S. Jou, R.M. Myers, et al., Huntingtin and DRPLA proteins selectively interact with the enzyme GAPDH, Nat. Med. 2 (1996) 347–350.
- [51] B. Koshy, T. Matilla, E.N. Burright, D.E. Merry, K.H. Fischbeck, et al., Spinocerebellar ataxia type-1 and spinobulbar muscular atrophy gene products interact with glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, Hum. Mol. Genet. 5 (1996) 1311–1318.
- [52] B.I. Bae, M.R. Hara, M.B. Cascio, C.L. Wellington, M.R. Hayden, et al., Mutant Huntingtin: nuclear translocation and cytotoxicity mediated by GAPDH, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (2006) 3405–3409.
- [53] A.S. Hackam, R. Singaraja, T. Zhang, L. Gan, M.R. Hayden, In vitro evidence for both the nucleus and cytoplasm as subcellular sites of pathogenesis in Huntington's disease, Hum. Mol. Genet. 8 (1999) 25–33.
- [54] Emma Hernlund, Ozgur Kutuk, Huveyda Basaga, Stig Linder, Theocharis Panaretakis, Maria Shoshan, Cisplatin-induced nitrosylation of p53 prevents its mitochondrial translocation, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 46 (2009) 1607–1613.
   [55] H.-W. Yung, A.K. Bal-Price, G.C. Brown, A.M. Tolkovsky, Nitric oxide-induced
- [55] H.-W. Yung, A.K. Bal-Price, G.C. Brown, A.M. Tolkovsky, Nitric oxide-induced cell death of cerebrocortical murine astrocytes is mediated through p53- and Bax-dependent pathways, J. Neurochem. 89 (2004) 812–821.
- [56] K. Kawahara, S. Oyadomari, T. Gotoh, S. Kohsaka, H. Nakayama, M. Mori, Induction of CHOP and apoptosis by nitric oxide in p53-deficient microglial cells, FEBS Lett. 506 (2001) 135–139.
  [57] J. He, H. Kang, F. Yan, C. Chen, The endoplasmic reticulum-related events in S-
- [57] J. He, H. Kang, F. Yan, C. Chen, The endoplasmic reticulum-related events in Snitrosoglutathione-induced neurotoxicity in cerebellar granule cells, Brain Res. 1015 (2004) 25–33.
- [58] T. Uehara, T. Nakamura, D. Yao, Z.Q. Shi, Z. Gu, Y. Ma, E. Masliah, Y. Nomura, S.A. Lipton, S-nitrosylated protein-disulphide isomerase links protein misfolding to neurodegeneration, Nature 441 (2006) 513–517.
- [59] Y.S. Guner, C.J. Ochoa, J. Wang, X. Zhang, S. Steinhauser, L. Stephenson, A. Grishin, J.S. Upperman, Peroxynitrite-induced p38 MAPK pro-apoptotic signaling in enterocytes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 384 (2009) 221–225.
- [60] M. Chen, H.Y. Sun, S.J. Li, M. Das, J.M. Kong, T.M. Gao, Nitric Oxide as an Upstream Signal of p38 Mediates Hypoxia/Reoxygenation-Induced Neuronal Death, Neurosignals 17 (2009) 162–168.
- [61] E. Bossy-Wetzel, M.V. Talantova, W.D. Lee, M.N. Schölzke, A. Harrop, E. Mathews, T. Götz, J. Han, M.H. Ellisman, G.A. Perkins, S.A. Lipton, Crosstalk between nitric oxide and zinc pathways to neuronal cell death involving mitochondrial dysfunction and p38-activated K+ channels, Neuron 41 (2004) 351–365.
- [62] Y.C. Kang, P.K. Kim, B.M. Choi, H.T. Chung, K.S. Ha, Y.G. Kwon, Y.M. Kim, Regulation of programmed cell death in neuronal cells by nitric oxide, In Vivo 18 (2004) 367–376.
- [63] K. Takuma, P. Phuagphong, E. Lee, K. Mori, A. Baba, T. Matsuda, Anti-apoptotic effect of cGMP in cultured astrocytes: inhibition by cGMP-dependent protein kinase of mitochondrial permeable transition pore, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 48093–48099.
- [64] D.J. Bonthius, T. Luong, N.E. Bonthius, B.S. Hostager, B. Karacay, Nitric oxide utilizes NF-kappaB to signal its neuroprotective effect against alcohol toxicity, Neuropharmacology 56 (2009) 716–731.
- [65] H.T. Chung, H.O. Pae, B.M. Choi, T.R. Billiar, Y.M. Kim, Nitric oxide as a bioregulator of apoptosis, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 28 (2001) 1075– 1079.
- [66] B. Beltran, A. Mathur, M.R. Duchen, J.D. Erusalimsky, S. Moncada, The effect of nitric oxide on cell respiration: a key to understanding its role in cell survival or death, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97 (2000) 14602–14607.

- [67] J.S. Kim, S. Ohshima, P. Pediaditakis, J.J. Lemasters, Nitric oxide: a signaling molecule against mitochondrial permeability transition- and pH-dependent cell death after reperfusion, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 37 (2004) 1943–1950.
- [68] K. Takuma, P. Phuagphong, E. Lee, R. Enomoto, K. Mori, A. Baba, T. Matsuda, The nitric oxide donor NOC12 protects cultured astrocytes against apoptosis via a cGMP-dependent mechanism, Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 89 (2002) 64–71.
- [69] H.J. Na, H.T. Chung, K.S. Ha, H. Lee, Y.G. Kwon, T.R. Billiar, Y.M. Kim, Detection and measurement for the modification and inactivation of caspase by nitrosative stress in vitro and in vivo, Methods Enzymol. 441 (2008) 317-327.
- [70] V. Borutaite, G.C. Brown, Caspases are reversibly inactivated by hydrogen peroxide, FEBS Lett. 500 (2001) 114-118.
- [71] P. Zhou, L. Qian, C. Iadecola, Nitric oxide inhibits caspase activation and apoptotic morphology but does not rescue neuronal death, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 25 (2005) 348-357.
- [72] E. Ciani, M. Virgili, A. Contestabile, Akt pathway mediates a cGMP-dependent survival role of nitric oxide in cerebellar granule neurones, J. Neurochem. 81 (2002) 218-228.
- [73] E. Ciani, S. Guidi, R. Bartesaghi, A. Contestabile, Nitric oxide regulates cGMPdependent cAMP-responsive element binding protein phosphorylation, Bcl-2 expression in cerebellar neurons: Implication for a survival role of nitric oxide, J. Neurochem. 82 (2002) 1282-1289. [74] K.S. Ha, K.M. Kim, Y.G. Kwon, S.K. Bai, W.D. Nam, Y.M. Yoo, P.K. Kim, H.T.
- Chung, T.R. Billiar, Y.M. Kim, Nitric oxide prevents 6-hydroxydopamineinduced apoptosis in PC12 cells through cGMP-dependent PI3 kinase/Akt activation, FASEB J. 17 (2003) 1036–1047.
- [75] A. Hashiguchi, S. Yano, M. Morioka, J. Hamada, Y. Ushio, Y. Takeuchi, K. Fukunaga, Up-regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway contributes to ischemic tolerance in the CA1 subfield of gerbil hippocampus, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 24 (2004) 271-279.
- [76] D.D. Thomas, L.A. Ridnour, J.S. Isenberg, W. Flores-Santana, C.H. Switzer, S. Donzelli, P. Hussain, C. Vecoli, N. Paolocci, S. Ambs, C.A. Colton, C.C. Harris, D.D. Roberts, D.A. Wink, The chemical biology of nitric oxide: implications in cellular signaling, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 45 (2008) 18-31.
- [77] J.O. Kang, Z.Z. Chong, K. Maiese, Critical role for Akt1 in the modulation of apoptotic phosphatidylserine exposure and microglial activation, Mol. Pharmacol. 64 (2003) 557-569.
- [78] J.Q. Kang, Z.Z. Chong, K. Maiese, Akt1 protects against inflammatory microglial activation through maintenance of membrane asymmetry and modulation of cysteine protease activity, J. Neurosci. Res. 74 (2003) 37–51. [79] A. Bobba, A. Atlante, L. Moro, P. Calissano, E. Marra, Nitric oxide has dual
- opposite roles during early and late phases of apoptosis in cerebellar granule neurons, Apoptosis 12 (2007) 1597-1610.
- [80] Y.Y. Tyurina, L.V. Basova, N.V. Konduru, V.A. Tyurin, A.I. Potapovich, P. Cai, H. Bayir, D. Stoyanovsky, B.R. Pitt, A.A. Shvedova, B. Fadeel, V.E. Kagan, Nitrosative stress inhibits the aminophospholipid translocase resulting in phosphatidylserine externalization and macrophage engulfment: implications for the resolution of inflammation, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 8498-8509.
- [81] K. Balasubramanian, B. Mirnikjoo, A.J. Schroit, Regulated externalization of phosphatidylserine at the cell surface: implications for apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 18357–18364. [82] K. Maiese, A.M. Vincent, Membrane asymmetry and DNA degradation:
- functionally distinct determinants of neuronal programmed cell death, J. Neurosci. Res. 59 (2000) 568-580.
- [83] A. Bal-Price, G.C. Brown, Inflammatory neurodegeneration mediated by nitric oxide from activated glia-inhibiting neuronal respiration, causing glutamate release and excitotoxicity, J. Neurosci. 21 (2001) 6480-6491.
- [84] M. Leist, C. Volbracht, S. Kühnle, E. Fava, E. Ferrando-May, P. Nicotera, Caspase-mediated apoptosis in neuronal excitotoxicity triggered by nitric oxide, Mol. Med. 3 (1997) 750-764.
- [85] M. Leist, E. Fava, C. Montecucco, P. Nicotera, Peroxynitrite and nitric oxide donors induce neuronal apoptosis by eliciting autocrine excitotoxicity, Eur. J. Neurosci. 9 (1997) 1488-1498.
- [86] X.X. Dong, Y. Wang, Z.H. Qin, Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity and their relevance to pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 30 (2009) 379–387.
- [87] D.G. Nicholls, S.L. Budd, Neuronal excitotoxicity: the role of mitochondria, Biofactors 8 (1997) 287-299.
- [88] K.S.P. McNaught, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide causes glutamate release from brain synaptosomes following inhibition of mitochondrial function, J. Neurochem. 70 (1998) 1541–1546.
- [89] L. Trabace, K.M. Kendrick, Nitric oxide can differentially modulate striatal neurotransmitter concentrations via soluble guanylate cyclase and peroxynitrite formation, J. Neurochem. 75 (2000) 1664-1674.
- [90] S. Sequeira, A. Ambrosio, J.O. Malva, A.P. Carvalho, C.M. Carvalho, Modulation of glutamate release from rat hippocampal synaptosomes by nitric oxide, Nitric Oxide Biol. Chem. 1 (1997) 315–329. [91] M.K. Meffert, B.A. Premack, H. Schulman, Nitric oxide stimulates Ca<sup>2+</sup>-
- independent synaptic vesicle release, Neuron 12 (1994) 1235-1244.
- [92] M.K. Meffert, N.C. Calakos, R.H. Scheller, H. Schulman, Nitric oxide modulates synaptic vesicle docking fusion reactions, Neuron 16 (1996) 1229-1236.
- [93] A.M. Di Stasi, C. Mallozzi, G. Macchia, G. Maura, T.C. Petrucci, M. Minetti, Peroxynitrite affects exocytosis and SNARE complex formation and induces tyrosine nitration of synaptic proteins, J. Neurochem. 82 (2002) 420-429.

- [94] A. Bal-Price, Z. Moneer, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide induces rapid, calciumdependent release of vesicular glutamate and ATP from cultured rat astrocytes, Glia 40 (2002) 312-323
- [95] C. Volbracht, E. Fava, M. Leist, P. Nicotera, Calpain inhibitors prevent nitric oxide-triggered excitotoxic apoptosis, Neuroreport 12 (2001) 3645-3648.
- [96] C. Volbracht, B.T. Chua, C.P. Ng, B.A. Bahr, W. Hong, P. Li, The critical role of calpain versus caspase activation in excitotoxic injury induced by nitric oxide, J. Neurochem. 93 (2005) 1280-1292.
- [97] B.M. Polster, G. Basañez, A. Etxebarria, I.M. Hardwick, D.G. Nicholls, Calpain I induces cleavage and release of apoptosis-inducing factor from isolated mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 6447-6454.
- G. Cao, J. Xing, X. Xiao, A.K. Liou, Y. Gao, X.M. Yin, R.S. Clark, S.H. Graham, J. [98] Chen, Calpain I induces cleavage and release of apoptosis-inducing factor
- from isolated mitochondria, J. Neurosci. 27 (2007) 9278–9293. [99] S. Landshamer, M. Hoehn, N. Barth, S. Duvezin-Caubet, G. Schwake, S. Tobaben, I. Kazhdan, B. Becattini, S. Zahler, A. Vollmar, M. Pellecchia, A. Reichert, N. Plesnila, E. Wagner, C. Culmsee, Bid-induced release of AIF from mitochondria causes immediate neuronal cell death, Cell Death Differ. 15 (2008) 1553-1563.
- [100] V.L. Dawson, T.M. Dawson, E.D. London, D.S. Bredt, S.H. Snyder, Nitric oxide mediates glutamate neurotoxicity in primary cortical cultures, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88 (1991) 6368–6371.
- [101] V.L. Dawson, V.M. Kizushi, P.L. Huang, S.H. Snyder, T.M. Dawson, Resistance to neurotoxicity in cortical cultures from neuronal nitric oxide synthasedeficient mice, J. Neurosci. 16 (1996) 2479-2487.
- [102] T. Yoshida, V. Limmroth, K. Irikura, M.A. Moskowitz, The NOS inhibitor, 7nitroindazole, decreases focal infarct volume but not the response to topical acetylcholine in pial vessels, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 14 (1994) 924–929.
- [103] Z. Huang, P.L. Huang, N. Panahian, T. Dalkara, M.C. Fishman, M.A. Moskowitz, Effects of cerebral ischemia in mice deficient in neuronal nitric oxide synthase, Science 265 (1994) 1883–1885.
- [104] R.G. Keynes, S. Duport, J. Garthwaite, Hippocampal neurons in organotypic slice culture are highly resistant to damage by endogenous and exogenous nitric oxide, Eur. J. Neurosci. 19 (2004) 1163–1173.
- [105] R.G. Keynes, C. Griffiths, J. Garthwaite, Superoxide-dependent consumption of nitric oxide in biological media may confound in vitro experiments, Biochem. J. 369 (2003) 399-406.
- [106] M.A. Moro, A. Cárdenas, O. Hurtado, J.C. Leza, I. Lizasoain, Role of nitric oxide after brain ischemia, Cell Calcium 36 (2004) 265-275.
- [107] G.C. Brown, C.E. Cooper, Nanomolar concentrations of nitric oxide reversibly inhibit synaptosomal respiration by competing with oxygen at cytochrome oxidase, FEBS Lett. 356 (1994) 295–298.
- [108] A. Jekabsone, J. Nehrer, V. Borutaite, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide from neuronal nitric oxide synthase sensitises neurons to hypoxia-induced death via competitive inhibition of cytochrome oxidase., J. Neurochem. 103 (2007) 346-356
- [109] A. Almeida, J.P. Bolanos, A transient inhibition of mitochondrial ATP synthesis by nitric oxide synthase activation triggered apoptosis in primary cortical neurons, J. Neurochem. 77 (2001) 676-690.
- [110] R.G. Keynes, J. Garthwaite, Nitric oxide and its role in ischaemic brain injury, Curr. Mol. Med. 4 (2004) 179-191.
- [111] G. Grima, B. Benz, K.Q. Do, Glial-derived arginine, the nitric oxide precursor, protects neurons from NMDA-induced excitotoxicity, Eur. J. Neurosci. 14 (2001) 1762–1770.
- [112] H. Bayir, V.E. Kagan, R.S. Clark, K. Janesko-Feldman, R. Rafikov, Z. Huang, X. Zhang, V. Vagni, T.R. Billiar, P.M. Kochanek, Neuronal NOS-mediated nitration and inactivation of manganese superoxide dismutase in brain after experimental and human brain injury, J. Neurochem. 101 (2007) 168–181.
- [113] S.R. Parathath, I. Gravanis, S.E. Tsirka, Nitric oxide synthase isoforms undertake unique roles during excitotoxicity, Stroke 38 (2007) 1938–1945.
- [114] M.J. Barsoum, H. Yuan, A.A. Gerencser, G. Liot, Y. Kushnareva, S. Gräber, I. Kovacs, W.D. Lee, J. Waggoner, J. Cui, A.D. White, B. Bossy, J.C. Martinou, R.J. Youle, S.A. Lipton, M.H. Ellisman, G.A. Perkins, E. Bossy-Wetzel, Nitric oxideinduced mitochondrial fission is regulated by dynamin-related GTPases in neurons, EMBO J. 25 (2006) 3900-3911.
- [115] Y. Zhang, A. Keszler, K.A. Broniowska, N. Hogg, Characterization and application of the biotin-switch assay for the identification of S-nitrosated proteins, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 38 (2005) 874-881.
- [116] H. Yuan, A.A. Gerencser, G. Liot, S.A. Lipton, M. Ellisman, G.A. Perkins, E. Bossy-Wetzel, Mitochondrial fission is an upstream and required event for bax foci formation in response to nitric oxide in cortical neurons, Cell Death Differ. 14 (2007) 462-471.
- [117] Dong-Hyung Cho, Tomohiro Nakamura, Jianguo Fang, Piotr Cieplak, Adam Godzik, Zezong Gu, Stuart A Lipton S-nitros(yl)ation of Drp1 mediates betaamyloid-related mitochondrial fission and neuronal injury, Science 324 (2009) 102-105
- [118] S.A. Lipton, Y.B. Choi, Z.H. Pan, S.Z. Lei, H.S. Chen, N.J. Sucher, J. Loscalzo, D.J. Singel, J.S. Stamler, A redox-based mechanism for the neuroprotective and neurodestructive effects of nitric oxide and related nitroso-compounds, Nature 364 (1993) 626-632.
- [119] Y.B. Choi, L. Tenneti, D.A. Le, J. Ortiz, G. Bai, H.S. Chen, S.A. Lipton, Molecular basis of NMDA receptor-coupled ion channel modulation by S-nitros(yl)ation, Nat. Neurosci. 3 (2000) 15-21.
- [120] R. Hopper, B. Lancaster, J. Garthwaite, On the regulation of NMDA receptors by nitric oxide, Eur. J. Neurosci. 19 (2004) 1675-1682.

164

- [121] G.C. Brown, A. Bal-Price, Inflammatory neurodegeneration mediated by nitric oxide, glutamate, and mitochondria, Mol. Neurobiol. 27 (2003) 325–355.
- [122] M.L. Block, L. Zecca, J.S. Hong, Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8 (2007) 57–69.
- [123] V.C. Stewart, A.J. Heslegrave, G.C. Brown, J.B. Clark, S.J. Heales, Nitric oxidedependent damage to neuronal mitochondria involves the NMDA receptor, Eur. J. Neurosci. 15 (2002) 458–464.
- [124] S. Golde, S. Chandran, G.C. Brown, A. Compston, Different pathways for iNOSmediated toxicity in vitro dependent on neuronal maturation and NMDA receptor expression, J. Neurochem. 82 (2002) 269–282.
- [125] A. Novelli, J.A. Reilly, P.G. Lysko, R.C. Henneberry, Glutamate becomes neurotoxic via the N-methyl-o-aspartate receptor when intracellular energy levels are reduced, Brain Res. 451 (1988) 205–212.
- levels are reduced, Brain Res. 451 (1988) 205–212.
  [126] P. Mander, V. Borutaite, S. Moncada, G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide from inflammatory-activated glia synergizes with hypoxia to induce neuronal death, J. Neurosci. Res. 79 (2005) 208–215.
- [127] P.K. Mander, G.C. Brown, Activation of microglial NADPH oxidase is synergistic with glial iNOS expression in inducing neuronal death: a dualkey mechanism of inflammatory neurodegeneration, J. Neuroinflammation 2 (2005) 20.
- [128] H.S. Han, Y. Qiao, M. Karabiyikoglu, R.G. Giffard, MA. Yenari, Influence of mild hypothermia on inducible nitric oxide synthase expression and reactive nitrogen production in experimental stroke and inflammation, J. Neurosci. 22 (2002) 3921–3928.
- [129] N. Toda, K. Ayajiki, T. Okamura, Cerebral blood flow regulation by nitric oxide in neurological disorders, Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 87 (2009) 581–594.
- [130] S. Cho, E.M. Park, P. Zhou, K. Frys, M.E. Ross, C. Iadecola, Obligatory role of inducible nitric oxide synthase in ischemic preconditioning, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 25 (2005) 493–501.
- [131] V. Borutaite, G. Brown, What else has to happen for nitric oxide to induce cell death?, Biochem Soc. Trans. 33 (2005) 1394–1396.
- [132] A. Bal-Price, G.C. Brown, Stimulation of the NADPH oxidase in activated rat microglia removes nitric oxide but induces peroxynitrite production, J. Neurochem. 80 (2002) 73–80.
- [133] P.K. Mander, A. Jekabsone, G.C. Brown, Microglia proliferation is regulated by hydrogen peroxide from NADPH oxidase, J. Immunol. 176 (2006) 1046–1052.
- [134] A. Jekabsone, P.K. Mander, A. Tickler, M. Sharpe, G.C. Brown, Fibrillar betaamyloid peptide Abeta1-40 activates microglial proliferation via stimulating TNF-alpha release and H<sub>2</sub> O<sub>2</sub> derived from NADPH oxidase: a cell culture study, J. Neuroinflammation 3 (2006) 24.
- [135] V.C. Stewart, M.A. Sharpe, J.B. Clark, S.J. Heales, Astrocyte-derived nitric oxide causes both reversible and irreversible damage to the neuronal mitochondrial respiratory chain, J. Neurochem. 75 (2000) 694–700.
- [136] J.P. Bolaños, S.J. Heales, Persistent mitochondrial damage by nitric oxide and its derivatives: neuropathological implications, Front. Neuroenergetics 2 (2010) 1.
- [137] S. Mariotto, Y. Suzuki, T. Persichini, M. Colasanti, H. Suzuki, O. Cantoni, Crosstalk between NO and arachidonic acid in inflammation, Curr. Med. Chem. 14 (2007) 1940–1944.
- [138] D.Y. Lu, C.H. Tang, H.C. Liou, C.M. Teng, K.C. Jeng, S.C. Kuo, F.Y. Lee, W.M. Fu, YC-1 attenuates LPS-induced proinflammatory responses and activation of nuclear factor-kappaB in microglia. Br. I. Pharmacol. 151 (2007) 396–405.
- nuclear factor-kappaB in microglia, Br. J. Pharmacol. 151 (2007) 396–405. [139] G.J. Harry, R. Sills, M.J. Schlosser, W.E. Maier, Neurodegeneration and glia response in rat hippocampus following nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME), Neurotox. Res. 3 (2001) 307–319.
- [140] K.A. Trumbull, J.S. Beckman, A role for copper in the toxicity of zinc-deficient superoxide dismutase to motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Antioxid. Redox Signal. (2009).
- [141] L.H. Barbeito, M. Pehar, P. Cassina, M.R. Vargas, H. Peluffo, L. Viera, A.G. Estévez, J.S. Beckman, A role for astrocytes in motor neuron loss in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 47 (2004) 263–274.
- [142] D.T. Hess, A. Matsumoto, S.O. Kim, H.E. Marshall, J.S. Stamler, Protein Snitros(yl)ation Purview and parameters, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6 (2005) 150–166.
- [143] J.S. Stamler, D.I. Simon, J.A. Osborne, M.E. Mullins, O. Jaraki, et al., Snitros(yl)ation of proteins with nitric oxide: Synthesis and characterization of biologically active compounds, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89 (1992) 444-448.
- [144] M.R. Hara, S.H. Snyder, Cell signaling and neuronal death, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 47 (2007) 117-141.
- [145] J.R. Lancaster Jr., B. Gaston, NO and nitrosothiols: spatial confinement and free diffusion, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 287 (2004) L465–L466.
   [146] S.R. Jaffrey, H. Erdjument-Bromage, C.D. Ferris, P. Tempst, S.H. Snyder, Protein
- [146] S.R. Jaffrey, H. Erdjument-Bromage, C.D. Ferris, P. Tempst, S.H. Snyder, Protein S-nitrosylation: a physiological signal for neuronal nitric oxide, Nat. Cell Biol. 3 (2001) 193–197.
- [147] M.T. Forrester, M.W. Foster, M. Benhar, J.S. Stamler, Detection of protein Snitros(yl)ation with the biotin-switch technique, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 46 (2009) 119–126.
- [148] Z. Gu, M. Kaul, B. Yan, S.J. Kridel, J. Cui, et al., S-nitros(yl)ation of matrix metalloproteinases: signaling pathway to neuronal cell death, Science 297 (2002) 1186–1190.
- [149] D.J. Moore, A.B. West, V.L. Dawson, T.M. Dawson, Molecular pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease, Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 28 (2005) 57–87.
- [150] K.K. Chung, B. Thomas, X. Li, O. Pletnikova, J.C. Troncoso, et al., Snitros(yl)ation of parkin regulates ubiquitination and compromises parkin's protective function, Science 304 (2004) 1328–1331.

- [151] D. Yao, Z. Gu, T. Nakamura, Z.Q. Shi, Y. Ma, et al., Nitrosative stress linked to sporadic Parkinson's disease: S-nitros(yl)ation of parkin regulates its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101 (2004) 10810– 10814.
- [152] A.H. ] Tsang, Y.I. Lee, H.S. Ko, J.M. Savitt, O. Pletnikova, J.C. Troncoso, V.L. Dawson, T.M. Dawson, K.K. Chung, S-nitros(yl)ation of XIAP compromises neuronal survival in Parkinson's disease, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2009).
- [153] R.U. Pathak, G.P. Davey, Complex I and energy thresholds in the brain, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1777 (2008) 777-782.
- [154] E. Clementi, G.C. Brown, M. Feelisch, S. Moncada, Persistent inhibition of cell respiration by nitric oxide: crucial role of S-nitros(yl)ation of mitochondrial complex I and protective action of glutathione, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 7631–7636.
- [155] V. Borutaite, A. Budriunaite, G.C. Brown, Reversal of nitric oxide-, peroxynitrite- and S-nitrosothiol-induced inhibition of mitochondrial respiration or complex I activity by light and thiols, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1459 (2000) 405–412.
- [156] L.S. Burwell, S.M. Nadtochiy, A.J. Tompkins, S. Young, P.S. Brookes, Direct evidence for S-nitrosation of mitochondrial complex I, Biochem. J. 394 (2006) 627–634.
- [157] C.C. Dahm, K. Moore, M.P. Murphy, Persistent S-nitrosation of complex I and other mitochondrial membrane proteins by S-nitrosothiols but not nitric oxide or peroxynitrite: implications for the interaction of nitric oxide with mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 10056–10065.
- [158] A. Galkin, S. Moncada, S-nitrosation of mitochondrial complex I depends on its structural conformation, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 37448–37453.
- [159] N.A. Riobó, E. Clementi, M. Melani, A. Boveris, E. Cadenas, S. Moncada, J.J. Poderoso, Nitric oxide inhibits mitochondrial NADH:ubiquinone reductase activity through peroxynitrite formation, Biochem. J. 359 (2001) 139–145.
- [160] J. Murray, S.W. Taylor, B. Zhang, S.S. Ghosh, R.A. Capaldi, Oxidative damage to mitochondrial complex I due to peroxynitrite: identification of reactive tyrosines by mass spectrometry, J Biol Chem 278 (2003) 37223–37230.
- [161] Y. Watanabe, H. Kato, T. Araki, Protective action of neuronal nitric oxide synthase inhibitor in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease, Metab. Brain Dis. 23 (2008) 51–69.
- [162] P. Klivenyi, O.A. Andreassen, R.J. Ferrante, E. Lancelot, D. Reif, M.F. Beal, Inhibition of neuronal nitric oxide synthase protects against MPTP toxicity, Neuroreport 11 (2000) 1265–1268.
- [163] R.T. Matthews, M.F. Beal, J. Fallon, K. Fedorchak, P.L. Huang, M.C. Fishman, B.T. Hyman, MPP+ induced substantia nigra degeneration is attenuated in nNOS knockout mice, Neurobiol. Dis. 4 (1997) 114–121.
- [164] G.T. Liberatore, V. Jackson-Lewis, S. Vukosavic, A.S. Mandir, M. Vila, W.G. McAuliffe, V.L. Dawson, T.M. Dawson, S. Przedborski, Inducible nitric oxide synthase stimulates dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the MPTP model of Parkinson disease, Nat. Med. 5 (1999) 1403–1409.
- [165] B. Bossy, A. Petrilli, E. Klinglmayr, J. Chen, U. Lütz-Meindl, A.B. Knott, E. Masliah, R. Schwarzenbacher, E. Bossy-Wetzel, S-Nitrosylation of DRP1 Does Not Affect Enzymatic Activity and is Not Specific to Alzheimer's Disease, J Alzheimers Dis (2010).
- [166] P.L. McGeer, J. Rogers, E.G. McGeer, Inflammation, anti-inflammatory agents and Alzheimer disease: the last 12 years, J. Alzheimers. Dis. 9 (2006) 271– 276.
- [167] C.A. Colton, D.M. Wilcock, D.A. Wink, J. Davis, W.E. Van Nostrand, M.P. Vitek, The effects of NOS2 gene deletion on mice expressing mutated human AbetaPP, J. Alzheimers Dis. 15 (2008) 571–587.
- [168] N. Sen, M.R. Hara, A.S. Ahmad, M.B. Cascio, A. Kamiya, J.T. Ehmsen, N. Agrawal, L. Hester, S. Doré, S.H. Snyder, A. Sawa, GOSPEL: a neuroprotective protein that binds to GAPDH upon S-nitrosylation, Neuron 63 (2009) 81–91.
- [169] T. Kawano, A. Kunz, T. Abe, H. Girouard, J. Anrather, P. Zhou, C. Iadecola, iNOSderived NO and Nox2-derived superoxide confer tolerance to excitotoxic brain injury through peroxynitrite, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27 (2007) 1453–1462.
- [170] H. Prüss, K. Prass, L. Ghaeni, M. Milosevic, C. Muselmann, D. Freyer, G. Royl, U. Reuter, N. Baeva, U. Dirnagl, A. Meisel, J. Priller, Inducible nitric oxide synthase does not mediate brain damage after transient focal cerebral ischemia in mice, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 28 (2008) 526–539.
- [171] C. Nathan, N. Calingasan, J. Nezezon, A. Ding, M.S. Lucia, K. La Perle, M. Fuortes, M. Lin, S. Ehrt, N.S. Kwon, J. Chen, Y. Vodovotz, K. Kipiani, M.F. Beal, Protection from Alzheimer's-like disease in the mouse by genetic ablation of inducible nitric oxide synthase, J. Exp. Med. 202 (2005) 1163–1169.
  [172] T. Dehmer, J. Lindenau, S. Haid, J. Dichgans, J.B. Schulz, Deficiency of inducible
- [172] T. Dehmer, J. Lindenau, S. Haid, J. Dichgans, J.B. Schulz, Deficiency of inducible nitric oxide synthase protects against MPTP toxicity in vivo, J. Neurochem. 74 (2000) 2213–2216.
- [173] LJ. Martin, Z. Liu, K. Chen, A.C. Price, Y. Pan, J.A. Swaby, W.C. Golden, Motor neuron degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mutant superoxide dismutase-1 transgenic mice: mechanisms of mitochondriopathy and cell death, J. Comp. Neurol. 500 (2007) 20–46.
- [174] K. Ono, H. Suzuki, M. Sawada, Delayed neural damage is induced by iNOSexpressing microglia in a brain injury model, Neurosci. Lett. 473 (2010) 146– 150.
- [175] I. Vareniuk, I.A. Pavlov, I.G. Obrosova, Inducible nitric oxide synthase gene deficiency counteracts multiple manifestations of peripheral neuropathy in a streptozotocin-induced mouse model of diabetes, Diabetologia 51 (2008) 2126–2133.